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ABOUT THIS ANNUAL REPORT
This annual report covers activities from 1 January 
2020 to 31 December 2020, but also contains 
commentary on future initiatives. We report 
annually at our annual general meeting.

WHY INTEGRATED REPORTING  
IS IMPORTANT TO AIST
Integrated reporting is a way for an 
organisation to share its story of development, 
impact and financial performance, providing 
stakeholders with an understanding of how 
the organisation creates value over time.

AIST has adopted elements of the integrated 
reporting framework to better inform our members 
and stakeholders of the role that AIST plays in 
shaping the profit-to-member superannuation 
industry, including our ongoing work in governance, 
advocacy, policy, events and education.

Through focusing on the value that AIST creates for 
our members and the Australian superannuation 
sector we ensure our organisation remains 
sustainable, effective, and successful. 

As the peak body for the 
Australian profit-to-member 
superannuation sector, 
AIST helps shape policy 
and provides educational 
training and events for  
the industry.
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MESSAGE FROM  
THE CEO AND CHAIR

The 2020 pandemic changed the Australian 
community’s lives in an instant. For the office-bound, 
we all had to find ways of working from home and 
staying connected in a strictly virtual environment.

LEFT: AIST CEO, EVA SCHEERLINCK 
RIGHT: AIST PRESIDENT, CATHERINE BOLGER

For the superannuation sector, COVID had added 
challenges – most notably the Federal Government’s 
early release scheme, which the profit-to-member 
sector implemented and managed with professionalism, 
proficiency, and empathy. In the face of tight deadlines, 
lockdown constraints and members in desperate financial 
need, AIST member funds were responsible for paying out 
around 70 percent of the $36 billion in payouts to date. 

Profit-to-member funds also played a critical role in 
managing the volatility across investment markets amid 
heightened media scrutiny about the impact of the 
pandemic and early release on members’ balances, 
liquidity and asset valuations. By investing for the 
recovery and the long-term financial future of members, 
many profit-to-member funds also provided much-
needed stability for markets and corporate Australia. 

ENSURING POLICY CHANGES ARE IN 
MEMBERS’ BEST INTERESTS
It was also a demanding year on the policy and  
advocacy front. 

Immediately following the April launch of the COVID  
early release scheme, AIST engaged with the 
industry, regulators, and government to assist with 
the smooth implementation of the scheme. 

In line with the sentiments of our member funds – many 
of whom were swamped with calls from members in 
financial distress – AIST’s public message was cautionary 
but always empathetic. While acknowledging that a 
great many Australians were facing financial hardship 
as a result of the pandemic, members were urged to 
carefully consider all Government income support 
measures available to them before withdrawing 
their super. As the year progressed, we also sought 
to publicise the good work done by the profit-to-
member sector in rising to the challenge of responding 
quickly and effectively to their distressed members. 

During the year, we completed a number of high 
importance submissions, including our 86-page 
Retirement Income Review submission. A highlight of the 
year was AIST’s ongoing engagement with representatives 
of our member funds across key operational areas 
through online forums and Communities of Interest. 
These events were hugely popular, particularly during the 
early stages of the early release scheme, as fund staff 
discussed the issues confronting the industry in a trusted 
environment of mutual respect and shared values. 

They also delivered results. AIST’s regular engagement 
with fund CIOs helped highlight the strong commitment 
across our sector to Australia’s economic recovery 
from the pandemic. AIST and key representatives from 
our funds engaged directly with the Government’s 
National COVID-19 Coordination Commission, 
various MPs and state governments on key issues of 
importance including housing and energy investment. 
This work received prominent coverage in the AFR. 
Regular government relations and media briefings 
with our funds were also well attended.
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Towards the end of the year, AIST identified that 
proposed changes to Section 56 of the SIS Act 
contained in the Financial Sector Reform (Hayne Royal 
Commission Response) Bill made significant changes 
in relation to financial liability for an expanded range 
of penalties. Our advocacy in Canberra on these new 
indemnification provisions led to the Senate agreeing 
to delay the commencement of these provisions for 
12 months from 1 January 2021 to 1 January 2022. 
Given the law was only passed in December 2020 this 
will allow our sector much needed time to make any 
necessary changes in time for the revised start date.

COVID also saw much activity across our events and 
professional development teams. Pre-COVID plans to 
expand our online educational offerings were accelerated 
and several new online course were developed. AIST also 
embraced the digital world, pulling off the mammoth task 
of transforming the Conference of Major Super Funds 
- which had transitioned to run in March in Adelaide 
- into an online event. By the end of the year, every 
AIST event had been transformed into an online event, 
many broadcast live and then available on-demand. 

Heading into 2021, the Your Future Your Super draft 
legislation which will fundamentally change the way 
the default system operates is a top priority. While 
AIST supports the stated intent of the legislation 
to tackle underperformance and reduce multiple 
accounts, we are concerned that many of the 
measures, if adopted in their current form, could lead 
to more consumer harm than good. We continue to 
engage with Treasury and other stakeholders about 
these proposals, having completed a comprehensive 
submission in December outlining our sector’s concerns. 

AIST remains on high alert about the fate of the legislated 
12% timeline. We stand ready to oppose any move by 
the Government to renege on its promise to deliver on 
this timeline and to defend the equal representation 
governance model should it come under renewed 

attack. Another priority is to continue to advocate for 
measures to improve the universality and fairness of the 
super system. This includes maintaining pressure on the 
Government to introduce COVID-super gap measures to 
improve retirement outcomes for low income applicants 
of the scheme, many of whom have depleted their 
accounts of savings and face a bleak retirement future. 

2021 will also mark the expansion of AIST member 
benefits, including member-led special interest groups 
on a variety of industry-specific topics and video 
policy updates on emerging legislative and regulatory 
matters to inform super fund teams. Members will also 
note a broadening of our professional development 
activities, and we cater to a wider range of fund staff 
and align our CPD with regulatory priorities for applied 
learning outcomes. A new subscription service is being 
launched for those unable to join AIST as a member.

It has been a privilege and honour for us to lead 
AIST during a year that was like no other. We are 
proud that we were able to continue to support 
our members during this challenging year. 

Similar to many other associations who typically draw 
a significant portion of their revenue from events and 
education, the impact of the pandemic on AIST’s bottom 
line was significant. AIST’s revenue decreased by 13% 
($1.056 million) from the previous year. Importantly, through 
prudent cost management and with the help of the 
JobKeeper subsidy received from the government, we 
finished the year that with only a small deficit. Our thanks 
to AIST staff for helping us achieve this result and ensuring 
AIST stands in good stead to serve our member funds and 
continue our important work in 2021. 

Eva Scheerlinck 
Chief Executive Officer

Catherine Bolger  
President
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WHO WE ARE

The Australian Institute of Superannuation Trustees 
is a national not-for-profit organisation and the 
peak representative body for the $1.5* trillion  
profit-to-member superannuation sector.

AIST REPRESENTS 48 MEMBER FUNDS*

M E M B E R  
F U N D S

I N D U S T R Y  
F U N D S

P U B L I C  S E C T O R 
F U N D S

PA C I F I C  
F U N D S

C O R P O R A T E 
F U N D S

48 26

13

5

4

*AS AT 31/12/2020

Our profit-to-member funds are industry funds, public 
sector funds and corporate funds, as well as five 
Pacific Island funds. All individual trustee directors 
and staff of member funds are AIST members. 

To be eligible to be an AIST member, a super fund 
must have a representative trustee governance model 
with a board of directors that includes representatives 
of members and employers or that is adequately 
representative of both employees and employers. 

 
PROFIT-TO-MEMBER SECTOR  
HOLDS STEADY IN 2020 
Australia’s profit-to-member fund sector recorded 
marginal growth in 2020, as the industry sustained 
investment losses during the March quarter and 
member contributions fell before a strong rebound 
across investment markets as the outlook improved. 
AIST member funds bore the brunt of super withdrawals 
under the Federal Government’s COVID Early Release 
Scheme, collectively accounting for more than two thirds 
of the $36 billion plus withdrawn from the Scheme.

On the performance front, APRA data for the five years 
to 31 December 2020 shows that profit-to-member 
funds continue to outperform, with returns to members, 
on average, 23 per cent higher than retail funds. 
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HOW WE CREATE VALUE

AIST’S VALUE CREATION MODEL DRAWS 
UPON FOUR OF THE SIX KEY INTEGRATED 
REPORTING CAPITALS:

AIST member funds are guided by their members’ best 
interests – in turn, AIST provides a range of services 
targeted to assist funds with their duty to provide 
better retirement outcomes for all Australians.

We maintain two-way collaborative communications with 
our member funds, ensuring a constant focus on creating  
value for our members.

Member input and feedback processes are built into all 
our services, and we have strong member representation 
in our policy committee, the member services committee, 
and our communities of interest. We also seek to delegate 
feedback on all education courses and conferences.

OUR CAPITALS VALUE CREATION

Human

Intellectual

Social & relationships

Financial

 Human

AIST staff, AIST Board, 
event speakers, 
trainers, researchers, 
contractors, partners, 
SuperGrads

 Human

Advocate for a better 
super system, shape 
policy and support 
member funds, 
educate members 
on superannuation 
developments

 Social & 
 relationships

 Social & 
 relationships

 Intellectual

Analysis, research, 
training, guidance, 
expertise, thought 
leadership, content 
creation

 Intellectual

Provide evidence 
for policy positions; 
drive best practice 
governance; share 
leading practice and 
guidance; enhance 
fund staff and trustee 
director skills

 Financial  Financial

AIST members, 
industry 
collaborations, 
regulators, 
unions, employer 
organisations, 
media, government

Drive change to 
deliver improved 
retirement outcomes; 
connect people 
to deliver better 
outcomes for 
their members

Membership fees 
and sponsorship; 
service revenue

Deliver timely and 
relevant services 
and products
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OUR BOARD AND GOVERNANCE

THE GOVERNANCE OF AIST
AIST is governed by a representative board elected by our members. The composition of the board is 
determined by the AIST constitution, which has provision for nine elected directors in two different categories 
– trustee representative and fund staff representatives. Additionally, the board can appoint up to three 
directors. Each director term is two years, after which directors can seek re-election or reappointment.

Catherine Bolger – 
President 
Trustee-elected director 
Joined 2016 
Fund 
State Super (SAS 
Trustee Corporation)

—
Louise du Pre-Alba –  
Deputy President 
Fund staff-elected director 
Joined 2015 
Fund  
AustralianSuper

Brendan Daly 
Fund staff-elected director 
Joined 2020 
Fund 
Rest

—
Naomi Edwards 
Trustee-elected director 
Joined 2015 
Fund  
Tasplan Super 
Resigned 17/6/20

—
Kara Keys 
Trustee-elected director 
Joined 2020 
Fund  
Cbus Super Fund

Geoff Lake 
Trustee-elected director 
Joined 2015 
Fund  
Vision Super

—
Julie Lander 
Board-appointed director 
Joined 2018 
Fund  
CareSuper

—
Debra Mika 
Fund staff-elected director 
Joined 2020 
Fund  
Aware Super

Craig Peate 
Trustee-elected director 
Joined 2016 
Fund 
Local Government Super

—
Mark Puli 
Fund staff-elected director 
Joined 2016 
Fund 
ESSSuper 
Resigned 3/4/20

1 CEASED EMPLOYMENT ON 7 OCTOBER 2020 2 COMMENCED EMPLOYMENT ON 9 NOVEMBER 2020 3 COMMENCED EMPLOYMENT ON 30 NOVEMBER 2020

REMUNERATION OF EXECUTIVES 2020
Position Base 

($)
Allowances 
($)

Leave Loading  
($)

Super 
($)

Total Remuneration PKG 2020  
($)

Eva Scheerlinck Chief Executive Officer  279,641  -  5,378  24,981  310,000 

Melissa Birks General Manager 
- Advocacy  205,272  1,400  3,948  25,106  235,726 

Matthew Jackson
General Manager - 
Corporate Services and 
Company Secretary

 177,642  1,000  3,416  21,727  203,785 

Maryann Mannix-White1 Chief Membership Officer  177,642  1,000  3,416  21,727  203,785 

George Nelson2 General Manager - 
Professional Development  170,000  -  3,269  20,792  194,062 

Tania Turnbull3
General Manager 
- Memberships and 
Partnerships

 170,000  -  3,269  20,792  194,062 

For more information about our board members visit: aist.asn.au/About/Governance/Board-of-Directors

https://www.aist.asn.au/About/Governance/Board-of-Directors
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BY THE NUMBERS

This matrix captures a picture of the board skills 
and is used to identify suitable candidates to 
fill the casual vacancies on the board. 

The board experienced some turnover this year, with 
the resignation of Mark Puli and Naomi Edwards. The 
board and AIST staff thank them for their contribution.

BOARD SKILLS AND EXPERIENCE

REPRESENTATION OF FUNDS BOARD TENURE 
  0-3 years 50% 

  3-6 years 50%

AGE DIVERSITY 
  30-50 years 38% 

 50-60 years plus 50% 

  60+ 12%

L O C A T I O N  O F  D I R E C T O R S  B Y  S T A T E

B Y  S E C T O R

B Y  S I Z E

Strategy and planning

Governance, Risk and Compliance

Financial Performance

Industry Experience and Profit to Member Ethos

Policy Development and Advocay

Marketing & Stakeholder Management

Commercial Marketing

Commercial Legal

Commercial Human Resource Management

Commercial Information Technology / Digital Skills 2

1 2 5

3

7

5

3

6

2 2

3 2

5

3

4

1

3

2

4

3

3

1

1

6

0

EXTENSIVE EXPERIENCE SIGNIFICANT EXPERIENCE ABLE TO CONTRIBUTE LIMITED KNOWLEDGE NO EXPERIENCE

AIST SKILLS MATRIX

OUR BOARD BY THE NUMBERS

63% O F  B O A R D  A R E  W O M E N

3 5

NEW SOUTH 
WALES

INDUSTRY 
FUNDS

L ARGE FUND 
(OVER $20 
BILL ION IN FUM) 

PUBLIC 
SECTOR 
FUNDS

MEDIUM FUND 
(BETWEEN $10-20 
BILL ION IN FUM) 

VICTORIA4

4

4

4

4

4
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Industry Funds Public Sector

Australian Catholic Superannuation and Retirement Fund Aware Super

AustralianSuper EISS Super

BUSSQ Building Super ElectricSuper

CareSuper ESSSuper

Cbus Fire & Emergency Services Super Fund

Christian Super GESB

Club Plus Super LGIAsuper

Energy Super Local Government Super

First Super QSuper

HESTA SA Metropolitan Fire Service Superannuation Scheme

Hostplus State Super (SAS Trustee Corporation)

legalsuper Super SA

LUCRF Super Vision Super

Maritime Super

Media Super

Mine Super

MTAA Super

NGS Super

REI Super

Rest

Statewide Super

Sunsuper

Tasplan

Togethr Trustees

TWUSUPER

UniSuper

Corporate Funds

ANZ Australian Staff Superannuation Scheme

Mercy Super

TelstraSuper

Wycomp Pty Ltd

Pacific Island

Cook Islands National Superannuation Fund

Firesuper NZ

Nambawan Super

Nasfund

Samoa National Provident Fund

OUR MEMBERS
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STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE

AIST advocates for financial wellbeing in retirement 
for all Australians, regardless of their gender, 
culture, education or socio-economic background. 
Through leadership and excellence, AIST supports 
profit-to-member funds to achieve member first 
outcomes and fairness across the system.

2020 is the first year of our 2020-2022 strategy. While many 
key objectives were commenced and partly achieved, the 
impact of COVID required a reprioritisation of resources 
to deal with the COVID Early Release Scheme and other 
challenges faced by our funds due to the pandemic. 

A selection of our objectives are outlined below:

OUR PERFORMANCE IN 2020 

STRATEGY OBJECTIVE PROGRESS OUTCOME 

ADVOCACY 

Advocate to deliver 
financial security in 
retirement and fairness 
on tax concessions 

On target 

While some planned activities were on hold due to 
COVID priorities, our media commentary, Retirement 
Income Review Submission, Your Future Your Super 
Submission and Budget submission had a strong 
focus on the need for the Government to stick to the 
legislated timeline to increase the Superannuation 
Guarantee to 12% and improve fairness in super.

Ensure Australian 
workers are defaulted  
into high-performing  
funds 

On target 
AIST’s Retirement Income Review and our Your Future Your 
Super submission reiterated the need for a default safety 
net that directs workers into high performing funds. 

Deliver the message that 
profit-to-member funds 
deliver better member 
outcomes – media and 
engagement activities 

On target 
Media commentary and key submissions referred 
to Productivity Commission and other analysis 
about profit-to-member fund outperformance. 

A voice for vulnerable 
and other members 

On target 
Substantial work has been undertaken in relation 
to developing an approach for vulnerable members 
who hold insurance in superannuation.

Strengthen our role as 
trusted adviser for policy 
and industry matters 

On target 

AIST actively engaged with stakeholders throughout the year 
through a range of mediums including board presentations, 
chair and CEO forums, APRA roundtables and Treasury forums. 

AIST’s engagement with parliamentarians resulted in an 
extension to the deadline for changes to trustee liabilities 
contained in changes to Section 56 of the SIS Act. 
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OUR PERFORMANCE IN 2020 

STRATEGY OBJECTIVE PROGRESS OUTCOME 

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT 

Enhancing member 
& super industry 
participant skills 

On target 
Delivered virtual CMSF, ASI and other events as a 
result of COVID. More than 90% member satisfaction 
with these professional development activities. 

Upgrade educational 
courses and develop 
new courses in the 
context of COVID

Partially on target 

Successfully transitioned all educational courses to online 
delivery. Launched the use of Learnbook to enhance 
member online servicing and successfully delivered new 
short course - financial support for members affected 
by COVID with excellent response rate. A total of 27 
webinars delivered with strong uptake from members. 

Communities of Interest 
(peer to peer) programs 

On target 
Expanded communities of interest program to cover 
more operational areas. Record numbers of fund 
staff attended during the COVID lockdown. 

Leadership programs On target 

10 SuperGrads completed virtual program. 

Record attendance at virtual TDC courses – with 
35% rise in registrations from the year before.

CEO and Chair forums held with positive feedback.  
Young Super Network (YSN) webinars achieved  
a 95% satisfaction rate.

CHAMPIONING THE INTEGRITY OF THE PROFIT-TO-MEMBER SECTOR 

Advocate, promote 
and uphold leading 
governance practices 
within the super industry 

On target 

41 (out of a total of 45) AIST Australian member 
funds reported to AIST’s Governance Code which has 
governance requirements over and above current 
APRA requirements. More than 90% of AIST Code 
requirements were fully met – a 5% increase on 2019. 

AIST’s Code Monitoring Panel and the Secretariat will 
undertake further engagement with funds in 2021 on the 
requirements that most challenged governance and reporting.
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OUR PERFORMANCE IN 2020 

STRATEGY OBJECTIVE PROGRESS OUTCOME 

BUILDING COMMUNITIES AROUND THE PROFIT-TO-MEMBER ETHOS 

Collaboration with 
partner organisations 
that support or are 
owned by profit-to-
member funds

On target 

Engagement with Women in Super and Mothers’ Day 
Classic, continuation of SuperGrads program and 
Young Super Network. Some other planned activities 
were put on hold due to COVID re-prioritising. 

STRENGTHENING AIST SUSTAINABILITY 

People training and 
development 

Not achieved Planned activities were put on hold due to COVID priorities. 

Technology 
developments 

On target
Adoption of online platforms for delivery of virtual events and 
professional development was fast-tracked due to COVID.

Financial performance – 
meet or exceed budget 

Not Achieved

Due to the marked impact of COVID on revenue from 
our events and training, AIST did not meet our budget 
forecasts for 2020. We recorded a small deficit, by reducing 
costs through the year and receiving financial assistance 
through the Government’s JobKeeper program.

STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE



OUR STAKEHOLDERS

IN THE FACE OF THE COVID PANDEMIC AND RESTRICTIONS, STAKEHOLDER 
ENGAGEMENT IN 2020 WAS INSTRUMENTAL IN HELPING AIST BOTH DELIVER ON ITS 
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES AND NAVIGATE THE BUSINESS IMPACTS OF THE PANDEMIC.

IT and tech consultants 

Complaint bodies

Governance bodies

International pension organisationsConsumer groups

Staff, management, boardMember funds Industry partners

Community

Other superannuation industry organisations

Employer associations

AdministratorsLegal organisations

Regulators

Investment industry groups

GovernmentMedia

Unions

Professional services firms

Research organisations

TOP PRIORITY

HIGH PRIORITY

OTHER PRIORITY
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HOW WE INTERACT  
WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Stakeholder How we interact

AIST members

AIST members participate in our activities across our advocacy, educational offerings and  
year-round event program. 

This includes attending AIST-facilitated member meetings on key policy developments to  
provide input to our submissions, participating in AIST committees and our Communities of  
Interest program. COVID’s 2020 restrictions meant many of these activities were conducted  
virtually, allowing members nation-wide to participate. Our Communities of Interest had  
record attendances this year. 

In 2020, regular zoom briefings for fund staff, CEOs and Chairs included updates on the  
COVID early-release scheme, COVID recovery work, the Retirement Income Review and the  
Your Future Your Super reforms. 

Members also received weekly policy updates, policy alerts, a quarterly research update and  
our Supertalk e-newsletter. 

Government and 
regulators

AIST engages regularly with the government, Treasury, APRA, ASIC, the ATO, SCT and AFCA  
as well as many other entities involved in superannuation policy. In 2020, this engagement  
included zoom meetings, online submissions, online appearances before parliamentary  
committee hearings as well as phone calls, and emails. 
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Stakeholder How we interact

Industry bodies and 
working groups 

AIST has direct links with a number of key industry entities and working groups. We are a 
board member of the Gateway Network Governance Body; a joint owner of the Insurance 
in Superannuation Code and a member of the Insurance in Superannuation Working 
Group; a member of the Indigenous Superannuation Working Group; a member of the ASX 
Corporate Governance Council; a member of the WIS policy committee of WIS; and part of 
the member council of ACSI. Other stakeholder groups we regularly consult with include the 
Australian Custodial Services Association; the Consumer Law Action Centre; and CHOICE. 

Unions and 
employer bodies

AIST engages with unions and employer groups including the ACTU, ASU, Unions NSW 
and the Victorian Chamber of Commerce and Industry, consulting on superannuation 
policy, governance, and leadership programs such as AIST’s SuperGrads. 

Media

AIST engages with a wide range of media outlets – and the public through social 
media - to support our advocacy work. We talk regularly with leading journalists 
and other prominent commentators to explain our sector’s position on policy 
developments and why the changes we advocate for are in members’ best interests.

International bodies

AIST’s engagement with international pension groups helps inform our positions on key 
policy developments in Australia. AIST is a member of the World Pension Alliance and 
regularly attended their meetings throughout 2020. The WPA has focused on global policy 
interventions in pensions due to Covid-19 and developments in global sustainable finance 
over the past 12 months. AIST CEO Eva Scheerlinck was appointed Vice Chair on 1 July 2020.
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BUSINESS RESPONSE  
TO COVID-19 - EVENTS

With the Conference of Major Super Funds (CMSF) 
due to begin in the week of the first national 
lockdown in March, AIST made the devasting 
decision to cancel this flagship event. 

With strong support from our member funds for CMSF 
to go ahead in a COVID safe way, AIST’s events 
team began the mammoth task of transforming 
the three-day conference into an online event.

More than 100 speakers were re-scheduled to appear in 
digital sessions that were either broadcast live or pre-

recorded to be available on-demand. Virtual conference 
platform providers were sourced, speakers were educated 
on how to perform digitally, and chair briefing notes were 
re-drafted. Elsewhere, a new suite of data analytics was 
built or developed to provide a resource library for on-
demand viewing and to track the activity on each session. 

By late May 2020, 34 CMSF sessions had been 
successfully delivered, with the conference attracting 
nearly 827 registered delegates. The average 
rating for all sessions was a positive 3.8 out of 5. 

PIVOTING TO VIRTUAL EVENTS 

The impact of the COVID pandemic on AIST’s 2020 
event program was immediate and far-reaching. 
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While key objectives are on target, the impact 
of COVID meant we were unable to deliver any 
face-to-face services. Additionally, some planned 
advocacy work was deprioritised so that the team 
could focus on engaging with stakeholders on issues 
concerning the COVID early release scheme.

A top priority was the online delivery of our flagship 
investment conference ASI, which had been scheduled 
to be held on the Gold Coast in September. 

With a strong focus on the global investment outlook, 
ASI typically has a high proportion of overseas-based 

speakers. For the event to include live screenings of 
international speakers, the program needed to be 
restructured to consider the various time differences in 
places like New York and London. It was decided to run 
the normal 3 day event over a five day period  
and to split the program into morning and afternoon 
two-hour sessions allowing participants to attend 
to other work in the middle of the day. 

An impressive 244 delegates joined the conference and 
there were hundreds of questions posed to speakers  
throughout the conference. The conference was 
rated a high 4.36 out of 5 among delegates who 
completed a survey for ‘on-demand’ viewing. 

The year’s event calendar was also marked by the 
seamless online delivery of five one-day symposiums 
covering the areas of engagement, risk, insurance, 
governance and legal and compliance. Delegate 
numbers at the virtual symposiums matched the 
face-to-face attendance of previous years and 
the feedback from delegates was very positive. 

Similarly, our CEO and Chair forums had good attendance  
and these events continue to be highly valued by  
attendees.

STAYING CONNECTED 
Another highlight for the event calendar was the 
online delivery of more than 50 AIST Communities 
of Interest programs. Audience numbers for these 
member-only events exceeded all expectations, 
indicating a clear need among fund staff to stay 
connected and learn about how other people within 
funds were dealing with the ramifications of COVID. 
Programs ranged widely across business functions 
including technology, cyber, human resources, employer 
engagement, risk, member engagement, investment 
operations, insurance and advice. Participants shared 
insights about working from home, pulse staff surveys, 
IT security issues, and the challenges of servicing 
members and employers during a pandemic. 
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BUSINESS RESPONSE  
TO COVID-19 - EDUCATION

EDUCATION AND TRAINING SERVICES  
IN A DIGITAL WORLD
Following the Victorian Government’s work from home 
directive in March, AIST’s education team began 
implementing methods for the online delivery of all 
our education and training courses. All education 
courses - both accredited and non-accredited –
were turned into virtual classrooms with curriculum 
and learning aids adjusted accordingly. 

A proposed upgrade to AIST’s existing learning 
management system was fast-tracked, resulting 
in the rapid installation of Learnbook, which now 
houses the education content for all AIST multi-day 
courses including RG146 Foundations, the Diploma of 
Superannuation and the Trustee Director Course. The 
new system also allows for the streamlining of pre-
enrolment requirements, submission and marking of 
assessment tasks and surveying of students to gather 
meaningful feedback on our training courses.

Acting on member feedback requesting more frequent 
virtual classrooms over shorter timeframes, all multi-day in 
person courses were rescheduled to a series of half-day 
Zoom classrooms running over several days or weeks. 

Features within Zoom, such as the ability to incorporate 
online multiple-choice quizzes and run group activities 
via breakout rooms, were embraced by AIST training 
consultants and served to enhance the learning 
experience and maintain engagement with participants. 

Similarly, AIST’s knowledge review service – which assesses  
knowledge among fund representatives in relation to  
the regulatory environment and other superannuation  
developments – was successfully transitioned to  
the Zoom platform. 

Responding to the demand for more home-based 
courses, AIST introduced a series of short self-paced 
online training courses that can be completed at any time. 

While there was a predictable fall-off in demand 
for in-house and bespoke training as funds focused 
on transitioning their staff to working from home, 
demand is expected to pick up once it is safe for 
more staff to return to the office environment. 

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT  
IN THE NEW WORLD
Given the ongoing uncertainty regarding COVID 
restrictions and the benefits that have been realised from 
virtual training, AIST 2021’s professional development 
program will be delivered using a hybrid model including 
both face-to-face gatherings (where possible) and digital 
access to live and on-demand education and events. 

Our experience in 2020 shows our digital offerings 
appeal to those who like the flexibility of on-demand 
sessions. During hard lockdown periods, many people 
used the time they would have otherwise spent 
commuting to view sessions. Another positive aspect 
of online delivery is that AIST members in all parts of 
Australia and in the South Pacific have equal access 
to all of AIST’s professional development offerings.

Given the importance that the profit-to-member 
super sector places on the opportunity to network 
and build relationships, we are confident that 
demand for face-to-face events will remain robust in 
the post-pandemic environment. People are social 
beings, and the strong sense of community across 
profit-to-member funds suggests that, when safe, 
in-person events will continue to be popular and 
serve a valuable role in the professional development 
of the staff and trustees of AIST member funds. 

AIST will continue to work with members to offer 
professional development that suits member needs 
from a content, timing and delivery perspective. 
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ADVOCATING FOR A 
BETTER SUPER SYSTEM 

fails to exercise, in relation to a matter affecting the 
entity, the required degree of care and diligence.

 AIST is consulting widely with our member funds and 
other stakeholders about the impact of these changes. 

IMPLEMENTATION AND IMPACT OF  
THE COVID SUPERANNUATION EARLY  
RELEASE SCHEME 
At the start of the COVID pandemic, AIST and 
the profit-to-member sector stood ready to 
support Australians in financial distress. For AIST, 
this meant taking an active role in ensuring the 
smooth implementation of the government’s COVID 
Early Release Scheme announced in April. 

In the days leading up to and beyond the Scheme’s 2020 
April start date, AIST consulted extensively with Treasury, 
APRA, ASIC, the ATO and AUSTRAC and other peak 
bodies. This included raising concerns about the proposed 
administrative process, the monitoring of eligibility criteria 
and the impact of the scheme on funds’ liquidity. 

As a result of this collaborative approach to the 
implementation, AUSTRAC amended their AML/CTF 
rules to allow funds to be able to rely on the ATO’s 
identification processes and not be required to carry out 
additional ID checks where no suspicious activity was 
suspected. This meant that payments could be made 
more quickly to members and the vast majority were 
within the expected five-day timeframe set by APRA.

In line with the sentiment of our member funds – 
many of whom were being swamped with calls from 
members desperately needing financial assistance 
– AIST’s public message was cautionary but always 
empathetic. While acknowledging that a great many 
Australians were facing financial hardship as a result 

The AIST advocacy and policy team had a 
busy and productive year, helping shape 
super policy developments and advocating on 
matters of importance to our member funds 
and the wider community. 
In addition to our intensive engagement with members, 
regulators and the media on issues relating to the COVID 
Early Release Scheme, we completed 18 submissions, 
including our Retirement Income Review submission 
and our response to the Your Future Your Super draft 
legislation. We took a lead role in advocating for 
a 12-month delay in the start date to the changes 
in director liabilities in Section 56 of the SIS Act. We 
also co-ordinated discussions between member 
representatives, investment experts and government 
representatives on super’s role in helping to kick-start 
Australia’s economic recovery from the COVID crisis. 

ADVOCACY DELIVERS 12-MONTH 
EXTENSION TO TRUSTEE LIABILITY  
LAW CHANGE
AIST advocacy on new indemnification prohibitions 
contained in the Financial Sector Reform (Hayne 
Royal Commission Response) Bill 2020 saw the 
Senate agree to a 12-month postponement of 
the commencement date for these changes. 

The changes to Section 56 and 57 of the SIS Act 
– which mean that super trustees and trustee 
directors will be held financially liable for a wider 
range of penalties incurred - now come into effect on 
January 1, 2022, rather than from January 1, 2021.

Under the new law, superannuation trustees and trustee 
directors will not be permitted to use trust assets to 
pay a criminal, civil or administrative penalty incurred 
in relation to breaches of Commonwealth law.

Under the existing law, the only circumstances were 
superannuation trustees and trustee directors are 
unable to use trust assets to pay a liability for breach 
of trust if the trustee fails to act honestly in a matter 
concerning the entity, or intentionally or recklessly 
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ADVOCATING FOR A 
BETTER SUPER SYSTEM 
of the pandemic, members were urged to carefully 
consider all government income support measures 
available to them before withdrawing their super. 

As the year progressed, we also sought to publicise the 
good work done by the profit-to-member sector in rising 
to the challenge of responding quickly and effectively 
to their distressed members. In total the sector, paid 
out around 70 per cent of the $36 billion in early release 
payments, well within APRA’s required timeframe. 

During this time, AIST’s commentary on the 
scheme featured regularly across the News Ltd 
stable of media outlets, the Fairfax press, various 
radio outlets as well as the AIST newsroom. 

RESEARCH SUPPORTS THE NEED TO  
ADDRESS COVID SUPER GAP 
As the year progressed it became clear that a higher 
than expected number of Australians were accessing 
the Early Release Scheme, with many young workers 
and low income earners draining their accounts. There 
were also concerns about the eligibility of scheme 
applicants, with reports that the scheme had seen a 
rise in non-discretionary spending, such as gambling. 

AIST-commissioned research conducted by Mercer 
found that young Australians would bear the brunt of an 
estimated $100 billion COVID super gap at retirement. 
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Just as worryingly, joint AIST and Women in Super research 
using de-identified fund member data indicated that 
the scheme had compounded the structural inequities in 
our super system for women who accessed the scheme. 

The analysis of more than 750,000 super withdrawals 
during the first tranche of the COVID scheme showed  
young women with low balances were most impacted.  
While more men than women made an early release  
application, women withdrew more as a proportion  
of their already lower balance. 

Against this background, AIST used its pre-budget  
submission to the October Federal budget to call  
for the government to consider alternative income 
support measures. 

This included a one-off government contribution to 
the super accounts of low-income earners (those 
earning less than $39,837) who accessed their super 
early and met the eligibility criteria. The contribution 
would be based on a quarter of the balance withdrawn 
and no more than $5000. We also called for: 

• an increase to the Government Superannuation 
Co-contribution Rate and threshold 

• the removal of the $450 minimum SG threshold, and 

• super on paid parental leave

In media commentary we noted that the legislated 
increase in the superannuation guarantee to 12% would  
provide crucial relief and lessen the full brunt of the  
COVID super gap.

RETIREMENT INCOME REVIEW
Before the pandemic became the main event of the 
year, AIST completed its submission to the Retirement 
Income Review. This document was framed around 
our consumer research that suggested support for 
12 % super remained strong and that Australians 
wanted a super system that enabled ordinary 
Australians to retire with financial security. 

The submission used cameo modelling to emphasize the 
importance of 12 % super for lower income earners and 
those whose journey to financial security in retirement 
is impacted by factors such as broken work patterns, 
unaffordable housing, and involuntary retirement.

Equity was another key theme. We noted that tax 
inequities in the system needed to be addressed so we 
no longer see the wealthiest Australians receive the most 
government support in saving for retirement. Similarly, 
changes needed to be made to the Age Pension Asset 
Test, which severely distorts the superannuation savings 
system for middle Australia and threatens system integrity. 

Additionally, an opinion piece by AIST in the Age/SMH  
highlighted the need for the Retirement Income Review  
panel to consider community expectations on  
retirement living standards for all Australians, not just 
those working continuously for 40 years on average  
or above average salaries.

Other key points in our submission – which were covered  
in the Age/SMH and the AustralianFinancial Review  
included:

• Targeted measures to help women/low income  
earners/Indigenous Australians, those with broken  
work patterns etc.

• Maintaining current preservation age to account 
for significant number of involuntary retirees.

• Raising tax on super balances over $10 million which  
account for $78 billion in assets – one tenth of total  
assets in SMSF sector.

• Raising rental assistance for age pension recipients

When the government finally released the Review 
Panel’s report on 2020 November, AIST questioned the 
panel’s finding that 9.5% superannuation was adequate 
for most Australians. While we acknowledged the 
comprehensive work completed by the Review and 
welcomed its finding that Australia’s superannuation 
system was performing well, we did not agree with 
the Review’s conclusion that there is an automatic 
trade off between wages and super increases. 

Our media response urged the government to stick 
to the scheduled increase of the superannuation 
guarantee to 12% by 2025, with AIST noting that 
this was critical to deliver financial security to 
women and low income earners in retirement. 
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ADVOCATING FOR A 
BETTER SUPER SYSTEM 

UPDATING THE INSURANCE CODE 
Work on the Insurance in Superannuation Voluntary 
Code of Practice ramped up during 2020 as Code 
subscribers sought to review and align the Code with 
legislation to keep it relevant, and as an effective means 
of lifting insurance standards for fund members. 

Revisions were made to the Insurance in Superannuation 
Voluntary Code of Practice to align it with the Protecting 
Your Super and Putting Members’ Interests First legislation. 

This resulted in a revised version of the Code being 
released, and other initiatives being pursued. 

As a co-owner of the Code, AIST consulted extensively 
with the other Code owners, the Code Review 
Committee and a broad sweep of representatives 
from our member funds on both developing the Code 
and assisting them with Code implementation. 

Recognising the need to ensure the Code protects 
vulnerable members, AIST took a lead role in 
managing a workstream to examine practical ways 
to improve insurance outcomes for this cohort. A 
range of measures have been developed to assist 
super funds and their vulnerable members. 

In early December, the joint code owners AIST, ASFA 
and FSC, agreed to a six-month deferral of the 
commencement on the Voluntary Code to 1 January 2022. 

Since the Code was first drafted three years ago, 
many funds have implemented key elements of the 
Code and have invested significantly in improving 
areas of member experience in relation to insurance 

in superannuation. However, as a result of recent 
legislative and regulatory changes many parts of the 
original Voluntary Code have now been overtaken.

The six-month deferral will allow signatories to 
the Code to focus on adopting the legislative 
and regulatory changes and improving member 
outcomes, including the important work to 
strengthen protections for vulnerable consumers.

ADVOCACY ON VULNERABLE MEMBERS 
In 2020 AIST, ASFA and the FSC – owners of the Insurance 
in Super Voluntary Code of Practice - initiated a review 
into the vulnerable member provisions of the Code. 

A working group was set up comprising of superannuation 
funds, insurers, and administrators to ensure the Code 
was appropriately responding to the needs of vulnerable 
members. During the course of 2020 the working 
group met on 10 occasions (including subgroups) to 
consider a range of matters aimed at improving the 
vulnerable member provisions within the code. In early 
2021, the working group will be conducting a public 
consultation on the draft revisions to the Code.

SUPER DATA TRANSFORMATION 
Following the late 2019 launch of APRA’s multi-year 
project to upgrade the breadth, depth, and quality 
of its superannuation data collection, AIST was kept 
busy throughout 2020 consulting with the regulator 
and closely engaging with our member funds. 

Numerous meetings were held across the year, as the 
regulator consulted on the collection of increasingly 
granular information, to address gaps about fund and 
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product performance, and to expand reporting to 
Choice products and investment options. AIST organised 
member working groups to shadow each APRA working 
group and co-ordinate feedback to funds. While the 
project is imposing significant extra costs on funds 
and requires many items to be clarified and explained, 
Super Data Transformation should also put into effect 
the longstanding and strongly argued AIST policy of 
having a level-field for Choice and MySuper products.

AIST has been successful in advocating to government,  
Parliament and now the regulator, that the higher 
standards and disclosure of MySuper products should also  
apply to Choice products.

During the year, AIST successfully sought a delay to the  
regulator’s proposed consultation timeline on phase  
one of the data transformation project, given the  
pressure funds faced due to resource-intensive  
pandemic reporting.

APRA intends to release the final reporting standards by  
early 2021 and commence phase one data collection  
in September 2021. 

AIST will continue to argue that Choice products are  
subject to the same rigorous performance assessment  
as MySuper products – and that the Choice Heatmap is  
published by early 2022.

IMPROVING OUTCOMES FOR WOMEN 
AFTER SEPARATION 
During the year, when the government appeared to be 
stalling on its promise to give women a better chance of 
accessing their share of superannuation assets after  
separation, AIST joined forces with the Women’s Legal 
Service Victoria and Women in Super to call for  
urgent action. 

The promised scheme, announced back in November 
2018 as part of the government’s Women’s Economic 
Security Statement, had a start date of 1 July 
2020 and would allow the family courts to access 
ATO data, making the process of accessing super 
far more efficient, fair and cost-effective. 

AIST’s advocacy – which included media commentary 
across print and radio - helped spark Parliamentary 
debate on the issue, with the government 
reiterating its commitment to the scheme. 

ADVOCACY ON CHOICE BILL 
Recognising the need to ensure no members were 
worse off as a result of the Your Super, Your Choice 
Bill, AIST strongly advocated for amendments to the 
Bill when it returned to the Senate in February. 

The Bill amended the Superannuation Guarantee 
(Administration) Act 1992 to prevent Enterprise 
Bargaining Agreements nominating only one 
superannuation fund in a workplace. 

AIST appeared before the Senate Standing Committee 
on Economics to argue that the Bill should only be 
supported with substantial amendments as it had the 
potential to prejudice interests of some super fund 
members by putting at risk the additional superannuation 
benefits, such as higher super contribution rates than 
SG enjoyed by many employees covered by EBAs. 

The Bill was eventually passed with amendments 
only applicable to defined benefit schemes.

WARNINGS ON UNPAID SUPER AMNESTY 
AIST was disappointed with the government’s decision 
to provide a 6-month amnesty for employers reporting 
unpaid super. We raised concerns that more workers 
could be vulnerable to super theft and that an amnesty 
could exacerbate the problem. International evidence 
suggests amnesties are rarely effective and can create 
a situation where previously honest employers reduce 
their compliance in anticipation of a further amnesty.

During the year, AIST continued to call for a strengthening 
of employer penalties for failing to pay super. 

INFRASTRUCTURE BILL RELEASED 
WITH KEY CHANGES
AIST’s advocacy on the Security Legislation 
Amendment (Critical Infrastructure) Bill 2020, saw key 
provisions adapted to ensure that the Bill aligned 
with reporting obligations in existing regulations, 
notably the CPS 234 regulatory framework.

Several other concerns raised by AIST were also 
addressed including a revision of the definition of 
a critical superannuation asset so that it captures 
assets that are critical to the security and reliability 
of the financial services and markets sector. 
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ADVOCATING FOR A 
BETTER SUPER SYSTEM 
AIST raised further concerns over the annual reporting 
and sign-off requirements. The exposure draft required 
funds to produce an annual report (confirming that the 
critical infrastructure risk management program was 
up to date and hazard reporting) 30 days after the 
end of the financial year. The draft bill was amended 
to require an annual report to be submitted to a 
relevant Commonwealth regulator within 90 days after 
the end of the financial year. The sign-off provisions 
relating to the annual report were also amended. The 
exposure draft required all members of the board to 
sign off on the annual report. AIST argued that this 
requirement was impracticable. The draft bill now only 
requires that the report be approved by the board. 

ADVOCACY ENSURES MYSUPER 
MEMBERS CONTINUE TO BENEFIT 
FROM INTRA-FUND ADVICE 
Advocacy by AIST and others in the profit-to-member 
sector ensured the Government’s Financial Sector Reform 
Bill recognised the benefits of intra-fund and one-off 
advice for consumers who are in MySuper products. 

The Bill limits the charging of advice fees but allows 
for funds to continue to offer intra-fund advice, 
and importantly – in a change from the draft 
legislation, allows for funds to deduct fees for non-
ongoing financial advice from MySuper products.

KEEPING MEMBERS INFORMED 
During the year, AIST kept members updated and 
informed with our weekly policy newsletter, timely 
policy alerts and summaries of the superannuation 
hearings of the Representatives Standing Committee 
on Economics. These publications were well 
received, with open rates consistent with or in 
many cases well above industry benchmarks.

AIST GOVERNANCE CODE 
Members undertook the second full year of reporting 
against the AIST Governance Code in 2020. 

The independent Governance Code Monitoring Panel 
found evidence that governance is continuing to  
improve across the 41 members that reported. This is  
the purpose of the Code.

Funds reported that they fully met 90.3 per cent of 
requirements, 5 per cent higher than the first full year of 
reporting (84.9 per cent). While the Panel agrees that 
funds fully met more requirements in 2020 than in 2019, 
the Panel assessed that 84.3 per cent of requirements 
were fully met in 2020. The difference in reported versus 
Panel-assessed compliance occurred because some 
explanations provided by funds to support the reported 
level of compliance were not clear or sufficient to 
address all elements of the reporting requirement.

Funds reported that only 2.1 per cent of requirements  
were not met, compared to 3 per cent the previous year.  
Ten funds reported fully meeting all requirements  
(compared to six in 2019). 

The Panel identified five key areas where governance 
practice and reporting can improve the most: 

• Demonstrate a written diversity policy setting 
out measurable objectives with annual reporting 
to ensure broadest talent pool is tapped;

• Demonstrate that the chair is appointed 
by the board and satisfies skill and 
experience profile in fund’s skills matrix;

• Demonstrate that there is a committee responsible 
for board renewal with at least three members 
that meet at least annually; disclose the charter, 
members and annual attendance records;

• Maintain a matrix showing skills, experience 
and diversity which acknowledges gaps 
the board will fill to fulfil its strategic plan; 
disclose a representation of the matrix;

• Annually evaluate performance of collective 
board and individual trustees; disclose the 
process and confirm annual implementation.

The five key areas of greatest challenge in FY20 are the  
same as in FY19. 

As of November 2020, AIST has 45 Australian fund 
members, two of which reported against the Code for 
the first time in 2020. There were four funds which did 
not report. Two funds (VicSuper and WA Super) were 
in the process of merging in FY20 with AwareSuper 
and therefore did not report given their governance 
structures were in a state of transformation. 
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Everyone deserves superannuation 
and a secure retirement. 

# KEEPING 
OUR SUPER 
STRONG

A third fund that did not report has not renewed its AIST 
membership, while a fourth fund has indicated that 
it is focusing its resources of its small administration 
team on managing its COVID response and 
implementing changes to superannuation regulation. 

The Panel and the Secretariat will undertake further 
engagement with funds in 2020 on the requirements 
that most challenged governance and reporting. 
The ‘Helpful Hints’ document which identifies leading 
practice will be revised to add new examples of leading 
practice to demonstrate how requirement can be 
met without adding significant compliance burden.
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MEDIA AND  
POLITICAL ENGAGEMENT 

AIST COMMENTARY ON THE  
EARLY RELEASE SCHEME 
As was the case everywhere, COVID-related stories 
dominated news coverage for the entire year. So it was 
no surprise when the government’s announcement of 
a COVID early release superannuation scheme back 
in March kicked off a running media commentary on 
the scheme which lasted until the scheme closed at 
year’s end. Virtually every aspect of the scheme was 
covered, including baseless speculation that some 
big profit-to-member funds would face liquidity 
constraints in processing member payouts. 

While acknowledging that many Australians were 
suffering financial hardship because of the pandemic, 
AIST’s media commentary focused on the need for the 
scheme to be a last resort measure. Joint research 
between AIST and WIS on the long term impact of 
the scheme on the retirement balances of low income 
and other vulnerable Australians helped drive media 
and policy engagement on this important issue. 

Backgrounding journalists with factual data on the 
scheme was also important. This included pointing 
out that the vast majority of profit-to-member 
funds (including those with very high number of 
member requests for early release) were processing 
payments well within the APRA timeframe.

AIST also provided commentary around the need 
to tighten the eligibility criteria to help ensure only 
those suffering financial hardship could access their 
super in the second tranche of the Scheme. 

AIST featured regularly in media coverage on the 
scheme across print, online, radio and TV.

PROMOTING THE ROLE OF 
PROFIT-TO-MEMBER FUNDS IN 
COVID RECOVERY WORK
Another important role for AIST’s media team during 
the year was to promote the work of profit-to-member 
funds in helping drive Australia’s economic recovery from 
the pandemic. AIST’s facilitation of online roundtables 
for fund representatives to discuss an investment-
led recovery and its work in linking up investment 
representatives with key state and federal politicians 
received prominent media coverage in the AFR. A few 
weeks later, our op ed on super’s role in helping tackle 
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Australia’s affordable housing crisis and the need for 
government’s to do more to further investment in this 
area was covered in The Australian. With more calls for 
superannuation to be opened up for use as a deposit 
for first home buyers, it will be increasingly important for 
journalists and commentators to understand the role 
that superannuation can play in boosting the supply of 
housing, as opposed to fueling demand through an early 
release scheme which would only see prices rise further 
and leave more first home owners out of the market. 

THE 12% DEBATE 
Media coverage of the 12% debate reached new heights 
in the latter part of the year following indications from 
the Prime Minister and then the Treasurer that the 
government might break its promise on the legislated 
commitment to the SG timetable. The PM’s comments 
were widely reported as was a follow up remark from 
Jane Hume that she was “ambivalent” about the rise.

AIST continued to call on the government to reaffirm 
its commitment to the 12% timetable. Our October 
Budget submission - which argued that the COVID 
super gap had made the need for 12% even more urgent 
- was covered by both the Age/SMH and the AFR. 

SOCIAL MEDIA REACH 
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AIST IN THE MEDIA

AIST CONTINUES TO HAVE A STRONG MEDIA PRESENCE ACROSS NATIONAL AND 
METROPOLITAN OUTLETS, ENSURING THAT THE VOICE OF THE PROFIT-TO-MEMBER 
SECTOR FEATURES PROMINENTLY IN SUPERANNUATION AND RETIREMENT 
DEBATES. IN AN ENVIRONMENT WHERE SUPERANNUATION IS UNDER INTENSE 
MEDIA SCRUTINY, PROMOTING THE BENEFITS OF PROFIT-TO-MEMBER SUPER 
TOGETHER WITH POLICIES THAT IMPROVE RETIREMENT OUTCOMES FOR ALL 
AUSTRALIANS REMAINS CRITICALLY IMPORTANT. 
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FOSTERING THE  
PROFIT-TO-MEMBER COLLECTIVE

‘”FROM THE VIRTUAL CMSF, AND THE INFAMOUS ‘SHARK TANK’ PRESENTATIONS 
TO ONE-ON-ONE MENTORING AND DEPARTMENT ROTATIONS, THIS PROGRAM HAS 
ENABLED ME TO THRIVE BOTH PERSONALLY AND PROFESSIONALLY.”

SUPERGRADS
AIST’s SuperGrads program accelerates the  
development of recent graduates and provides member 
funds and the wider profit-to-member superannuation 
sector with dedicated and fresh-minded talent.

This year, ten SuperGrads demonstrated their skills 
and resilience by completing the program in the 
virtual space. The 12-month program included 
completing RG 146, attending the virtual CMSF, 
the Shark Tank project and online mentoring. 

AIST thanks the industry leaders and mentors 
involved in the program, who provided the 
grads with invaluable insights and advice. 

Since its inception 16 years ago, the SuperGrads 
program has helped launch the careers of 

TIANNA ISMAIL, SUPERANNUATION GRADUATE, CBUS

more than 150 new employees in the profit-
to-member superannuation industry.

We look forward to welcoming the next batch 
of SuperGrads into the industry in 2021.

SHARING COVID STORIES 
With lockdown restrictions necessitating the 
cancellation of the annual AIST Awards In Excellence 
Night, we instead invited member funds to share 
their stories of how they responded to the challenges 
of COVID through an online video event. 

The event – held on 4 December and attracted 
hundreds of our members from across our membership 
– included videos on funds communicating 
to members, new employer engagement 
strategies, and support of frontline workers.

SUPERGRADS 2019
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COMMUNITY ACTION

AIST WORKS ALONGSIDE OUR PARTNERS, MEMBER FUNDS AND COMMUNITY 
ORGANISATIONS TO ENSURE THE PROFIT-TO-MEMBER SUPERANNUATION SECTOR  
IS A LEADING FORCE FOR POSITIVE OUTCOMES IN THE COMMUNITY.

MOTHER’S DAY  
CLASSIC
As a founding sponsor of Mother’s Day Classic (MDC), 
AIST is proud to be a part of the network of super 
funds, community organisations, volunteers and other 
sponsors that have made MDC such a success.

With lockdown restrictions forcing a ban on mass 
gatherings, MDC switched to a virtual event that 
saw all AIST staff participate in a virtual walk in 
May. We congratulate MDC on donating $900,000 
to breast cancer research in 2020, taking their 
total funds donated to nearly $38 million.

SUPPORTING ORGANISATIONS WORKING 
TO IMPROVE INDIGENOUS OUTCOMES 
AIST has a strong focus on working to improve  
superannuation and retirement outcomes for Indigenous  
Australians.

In 2020, we began a partnership with the Literacy For 
Life Foundation, an Aboriginal-run charity training 
Aboriginal people to bring literacy to their communities. 
Over the course of the year we donated $40,000 
through our speaker gift and registrations program.

AIST MDC 2020 COLLAGE
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OUR PEOPLE AND CULTURE

NAVIGATING THE PANDEMIC WAS A NEW 
EXPERIENCE FOR EVERYBODY, INCLUDING 
AIST STAFF. THROUGHOUT THE VARIOUS 
STAGES OF LOCKDOWN DURING THE YEAR, 
THE BUSINESS FOCUSED ON SUPPORTING 
EMPLOYEES TO WORK FROM HOME IN LINE 
WITH GOVERNMENT GUIDELINES. 

68% 32%

A V E R A G E 
A G E

F E M A L E M A L E

Y E A R S  A V E R A G E 
T E N U R E

38 5

This included providing staff with guidance about a safe 
home office environment and frequent reminders on good 
ergonomic practice, such as regular breaks and exercise. 
Staff were invited to provide regular feedback about 
their working from home experience through several 
online surveys, including one focusing on mental health. 

FLEXIBILITY 

All staff who needed to adjust their working hours 
were offered flexible working hours. Acknowledging 
the difficulties faced by working parents in juggling 
home schooling and work hours during lockdown, AIST 
approved all requests for leave and modified duties. 

STAYING CONNECTED 
The importance of staying connected was recognised 
with the introduction of daily all-staff zoom meetings 
and regular online team meetings which continue 
to the present day. Social activities on Zoom proved 
popular including Friday night virtual drinks, lunchtime 
yoga, and the MDC virtual walk. At the beginning 
of December when restrictions were eased, staff 
enjoyed a face-to-face Christmas picnic gathering.

THE FUTURE OF WORK 

A 2020 December Pulse Survey of AIST staff showed 
that 53% of staff are keen to work remotely more 
than two days a week, with another 23% keen to 
work remotely for two days week. On average, staff 
reported an extremely high work-life balance as a 
result of working from home during the pandemic. 

Looking ahead to the post-COVID future, AIST 
will be exploring a hybrid working model for staff 
that combines remote work and office time.
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FAREWELL TO A DEDICATED 
EXECUTIVE MANAGER 
AIST farewelled our chief membership officer, 
Maryann Mannix-White, in October, noting her deep 
commitment and dedication to our events, education 
and membership programs over a 15 year tenure. 

During her time with AIST, Maryann drove the expansion 
of the organisation’s professional development program, 
including the global conferences and international 
study tours. Her close ties with the profit-to-member 
super sector helped AIST foster long-standing 
relationships with our funds, industry partners and other 
stakeholders across the financial services sector. 

Passionate about the benefits of profit-to-member 
funds, Maryann was also pivotal in overseeing 
the digital transformation and delivery of the 
AIST education and events offerings during the 
pandemic, which included organisation of CMSF.

RESTRUCTURE 
2020’s pandemic and associated tough operational 
environment prompted a rethink of AIST’s resourcing 
needs. Management conducted a restructure to 
better align internal skills and capabilities with 
the changing needs of the industry and optimal 
service delivery for our member funds.

To ensure AIST be fit for purpose for the longer term, a 
number of positions were made redundant and new 
roles created to deliver on an updated business plan.

Those roles included new General Managers to focus 
on our professional development capabilities and on 
engaging with our members and partners. The new 
organisational structure is due to be settled by mid-2021.

EXECUTIVE TEAM (L TO R) MATTHEW JACKSON, EVA SCHEERLINCK, TANIA TURNBULL, MELISSA BIRKS, GEORGE NELSON
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OUR INDUSTRY PARTNERS

Name Partnership Type

IFM Investors Principal Partner

J.P. Morgan Principal Partner

State Street Major Events Partner

AMP Capital Premium Partner

AXA Investment Managers Premium Partner

Federated Hermes Premium Partner

Insight Investment Premium Partner

Northern Trust Premium Partner

Nuveen Premium Partner

QIC Premium Partner

Robeco Premium Partner

Schroders Premium Partner

PIMCO Premium Partner

AIA CMSF Event Partner/ Insurance Symposium

PwC CMSF Event Partner

Challenger ASI Event Partner

DWS ASI Event Partner

Eaton Vance ASI Event Partner

Four Twenty Seven ASI Event Partner

Lazard Asset Management ASI Event Partner

RARE Infrastructure ASI Event Partner

Warakirri Asset Management / Mesirow Financial ASI Event Partner

Holding Redlich Event Partner - Legal & Compliance Symposium

Investment Magazine Media Partner
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31 December 2020

The directors present their report together with the financial statements of Australian Institute of Superannuation 
Trustees (“the Company”) for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the auditor’s report thereon.

1. Directors

 The directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the financial year are:

Name Fund Fund Position AIST Position Date Appointed
Term 
Concluded

Catherine Bolger SAS Trustees Trustee Director Trustee Representative 
Director, President

11/04/2018

Trustee Representative 
Director

17/03/2016

Louise du Pre-Alba Australian Super Strategic Policy 
Advocate

Staff Representative 
Director, Deputy President

14/04/2017

Staff Representative 
Director

18/03/2015

Brendan Daly Rest Group Executive 
– Product & 
Operations

Staff Representative 
Director

17/06/2020

Naomi Edwards Tasplan Chair Board Appointed Director

Trustee Representative 
Director

16/12/2015

13/03/2019 17/06/2020

Karalyn Keys Cbus Trustee Director Trustee Representative 
Director

4/03/2020

Geoffrey Lake Vision Super Chair Trustee Representative 
Director

18/03/2015

Julie Lander CareSuper Chief of Staff & 
Group Executive - 
Victoria

Board Appointed Director 1/01/2018

Debra Mika Aware Super Chief Executive 
Officer

Staff Representative 
Director

2/03/2020

Craig Peate Local Government 
Super

Deputy Chair Trustee Representative 
Director

17/03/2016

Mark Puli ESSSuper Chief Executive 
Officer

Staff Representative 
Director

17/03/2016 3/04/2020

DIRECTOR’S REPORT



3 8 l  AU STR A L I A N I N ST IT U TE O F S U PER A N N UAT I O N TR U STEES

2. Directors’ Meetings

 The number of directors’ meetings and number of meetings attended by each of the directors  
of the Company during the financial year are:

Director

AIST Board
Finance, Audit and 

 Risk Committee

A B A B

Catherine Bolger 6 7 8 8

Louise du Pre-Alba 3 7

Brendan Daly 3 5 7 7

Naomi Edwards 2 2

Karalyn Keys 6 6

Geoffrey Lake 7 7

Julie Lander 6 7

Debra Mika 6 6

Craig Peate 6 7 8 8

Mark Puli 1 1 1 1

 A  Number of meetings attended.

 B  Reflects the number of meetings held during the time the director held office during the year 
 David Coogan from PricewaterhouseCoopers attended all eight of the Finance, Risk & Audit Committee   
 meetings during the year as Chair.

3. Principal Activity 

The Company is a national not-for-profit organisation whose mission is to promote and protect the interests 
of Australia’s $1.4 trillion not-for-profit superannuation sector. The Company’s membership includes the trustee 
directors and staff of industry, corporate and public-sector funds, who manage the superannuation accounts 
of nearly two-thirds of the Australian workforce. 
 
As an advocate and peak representative body for the not-for-profit superannuation sector, the Company 
plays a key role in policy development and is a leading provider of research. 
 
The Company provides professional training and support for trustees and fund staff to help them meet the 
challenges of managing superannuation funds and advancing the interests of their fund members. Each year, 
the company hosts the Conference of Major Superannuation Funds (CMSF), in addition to numerous other 
industry conferences and events.
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3. Principal Activity (continued)

The Company manages its short-and long-term objectives of providing advanced education in connection 
with the superannuation industry. These activities are managed by the Company’s CEO with oversight from 
the Board of Directors through the Company’s three-year strategic plan. The Company’s performance is 
measured by attendance and feedback from members at various activities and conferences. The financial 
management of the Company is managed through the Board, the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee and the 
Remuneration Committee.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the activities of the Company during the year.

4. Operating and Financial Review

The total revenue including interest income for the year was $7,060,177 (2019: $8,125,430). 

The total comprehensive loss after income tax loss was $113,531 (2019: $439,791 loss). The Company is exempt 
from income tax.

The operating performance for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 was impacted significantly by 
Covid-19 during the 2020 year, including:

•	 The cancellation of AIST’s flagship CMSF conference scheduled to be held in Adelaide in  
March 2020 and the transition to a virtual delivery of the event;

•	 The postponement of the Global Dialogue event due to be held in Toronto,  
Canada in May 2021,

•	 The cancellation of numerous smaller events scheduled to be held during the 2020; and,

•	 The cancellation of all in-person professional development courses.

The combined revenue impact of the cancellation and postponement of these events is estimated to be 
greater than $3.5m for the 2020 year.

Covid-19 had a significant impact on the financial and operating performance of the organisation 
during the 2020 financial year. The ongoing impact of Covid-19 on the operations of the business 
continues to be closely monitored by the organisation and where possible actions are being 
undertaken to limit any negative financial impact.

The negative impact upon revenue was mitigated by:

•	 Participation in the Government’s JobKeeper program which contributed $1.2m during the year;

•	 Reduction in accommodation costs via rent relief;

•	 Negotiations with suppliers and where possible the obtaining of credits for events that could 
not proceed; and,

•	 The reduction of operating costs where possible.

The net result was therefore to limit the financial loss for the 2020 financial year to $113,531.

It is the policy of the Board to achieve a breakeven or surplus in any financial year, with 
acknowledgement that due to the cyclical nature of a number of programs run by the Company 
there can be changes in revenue and operating performance from year to year.
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5. Significant changes in the state of affairs

In the opinion of the directors there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company that 
occurred during the financial year under review.

The Company’s year is 1 January to 31 December inclusive.

6. Events Subsequent to Reporting Date

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any 
item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect significantly the operations of the 
Company, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in subsequent financial years.

7. Likely Developments

The directors are not aware of any circumstances which would materially affect the ongoing development 
of the Company. Further information about likely developments in the operations of the Company and the 
expected results of those operations in future financial years has not been included in this report because 
disclosure of the information would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Company.

8. Directors’ Interests

The directors of the Company do not receive any remuneration for the performance of their  
duties as Directors. 

9. Indemnification and insurance of Directors and Officers

The Company has not indemnified or made a relevant agreement for indemnifying against a liability to any 
person who is or has been an officer or auditor of the Company

During or since the end of the financial year, the Company paid a premium under a contract insuring the 
directors, the company secretary and certain officers for liabilities incurred in those capacities.

Disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of premium in respect of the period cannot be 
disclosed under the contract.

The entity is a company limited by guarantee. The maximum liability per member is $10. At 31 December 2020 
there were 8,048 members, made up of Trustee Directors, Fund Staff, Associate and individual members.
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10.  Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration

The lead auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page 6 and forms part of the directors’  
report for the financial year ended 31 December 2020.

Dated at this 30th day of March 2021.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors: 

 
 
 Catherine Bolger, Director  

 

   

  

LEAD AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

Louise du Pre-Alba, Director
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©2021 KPMG, an Australian partnership and member firm of the KPMG 
global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All 
rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under 
license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organization. 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation. 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration under subdivision 60-C 

section 60-40 of Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 

Commission Act 2012 

To: the directors of Australian Institute of Superannuation Trustees 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial year ended 
31 December 2020 there have been: 

i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Australian
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

KPM_INI_01

KPMG  Sarah Cain 

Partner 

Melbourne 

30 March 2021 

6
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Statement of Financial Position 
For the year ended 31 December 2020 

In AUD Note 2020 2019

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 9 421,828 652,722

Term deposits 1,538,566 4,265,500

Trade and other receivables 15 474,720 110,593

Lease receivables 16 106,051 143,017

Prepayments 939,006 543,700

Investments 1,977,487 1,752,229

Total current assets 5,457,658 7,467,761 

 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS  

Lease receivables 16 1,226,128 1,353,833

Property, plant and equipment 10 1,829,195 2,181,728

Intangible assets 11 477,992 529,299

Total non-current assets 3,533,315 4,064,860

 

Total assets 8,990,973 11,532,621

 

CURRENT LIABILITIES  

Income received in advance 20 1,354,770 3,252,143

Trade and other payables 17 385,254 391,864

Lease liabilities 18 345,168 357,669

Employee benefits 21 334,330 464,594

Provision for make good 18,000 18,000

Total current liabilities 2,437,522 4,484,270 

 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  

Lease liabilities 18 2,883,146 3,277,317

Employee benefits 21 51,827 39,025

Total non-current liabilities 2,934,973 3,316,342

  

Total liabilities 5,372,495 7,800,612

 

Net assets 3,618,478 3,732,009 

 

EQUITY  

Contributed equity 1,423,489 1,423,489

Capital and operational reserve 24 2,000,000 2,000,000

Retained earnings 194,989 308,520

Total equity 3,618,478 3,732,009 

The notes on pages 47 to 69 are an integral part of these financial statements. 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 31 December 2020

In AUD Note 2020 2019

Revenue 7 7,060,177 8,125,430

Expenses 8 (7,117,604) (8,590,818)

Results from operating activities (57,427) (465,388)

Finance income 14 137,003 257,973

Finance expenses 14 (193,107) (232,376)

Net finance results (56,104) 25,597

Income tax expense 6(d) - -

(Loss)/surplus for the period (113,531) (439,791)

Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income  -  - 

 

Total comprehensive (loss)/surplus for the period (113,531) (439,791)

The notes on pages 47 to 69 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2020

In AUD
Contributed 

Equity

Capital and 
Operational 

Reserve

Retained 
Earnings 

Restated*
Total Equity 

Restated*

Balance at 1 January 2020 1,423,489 2,000,000 308,520 3,732,009

Comprehensive income for the period     

Other comprehensive income for the period - - - - 

Loss for the period - - (113,531) (113,531) 

Total Comprehensive loss for the period 1,423,489 2,000,000 194,989 3,618,478

    

Transactions with members, recorded  
directly in equity

    

Allocation of retained earnings to capital and 
operational reserve - - - - 

Total transactions with members  - -  - - 

Balance at 31 December 2020 1,423,489 2,000,000 194,989 3,618,478

For the year ended 31 December 2019

In AUD
Contributed 

Equity

Capital and 
Operational 

Reserve
Retained 
Earnings Total Equity

Balance at 1 January 2019 1,423,489 2,000,000 748,311 4,171,800

Comprehensive income for the period

Other comprehensive income for the period - - - -

Surplus for the period - - (439,791) (439,791)

Total Comprehensive income for the period 1,423,489 2,000,000 308,520 3,732,009

Transactions with members,  
recorded directly in equity

Allocation of retained earnings to capital and 
operational reserve - - - -

Total transactions with members - - - -

Balance at 31 December 2019 1,423,489 2,000,000 308,520 3,732,009

The notes on pages 47 to 69 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 31 December 2020

In AUD Note 2020 2019

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATION ACTIVITIES  

Cash receipts from customers 3,725,138 9,047,714

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (7,444,684) (8,438,198)

Cash generated/(used in) from operations (3,719,546) 609,516

Other revenue 1,402,012 343,779

Interest paid (22,839) (45,526)

Interest received 41,535 103,911

Net cash generated / (used in) in operating activities 12 (2,298,838) 1,011,680

 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  

Investment in bank deposits/  
(proceeds from exited deposits) 2,726,934 571,429

Investment in securities (200,000) (1,675,000)

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (4,846) (165,960)

Interest income on sub-leasing right-of-use assets 70,210  76,833 

Receipt of lease receivables 78,239  128,687 

Receipts from sales of property, plant and equipment 0 2,421

Acquisition of intangible assets (112,084) (337,481)

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities 2,558,453 (1,399,071)

 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  

Interest paid on lease liabilities (170,268) (186,850)

Payment of lease liabilities (320,241) (322,501)

Net cash used in financing activities (490,509) (509,351)

 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (230,894) (896,742)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 652,722 1,549,464

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 9 421,828 652,722

The notes on pages 47 to 69 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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1. Reporting entity

Australian Institute of Superannuation Trustees [ABN 19 123 284 275] (the “Company”) is a Company limited 
by guarantee domiciled in Australia. The Company is incorporated in Australia. The address of the registered 
office is Level 23, 150 Lonsdale Street, Melbourne Victoria 3000, Australia. The financial statements of the 
Company are for the year ended 31 December 2020. The Company is a not-for-profit entity and primarily 
involved in:

• Delivering high quality education, training and information and resources to those who are involved in the 
superannuation industry;

• Providing support and resources to those wishing to develop the skills and qualifications to take up 
involvement in the superannuation industry or to increase such involvement;

• Establishing and maintaining appropriate professional standards for the representative superannuation 
industry;

• Administering professional accreditation programmes and registers for those who are involved in the 
superannuation industry;

• Providing licensing and compliance advice, and compliance monitoring services to the superannuation 
industry;

• Organising meetings, seminars and conferences that facilitate local, national or international networks 
for those involved or interested in the superannuation industry to come together to discuss and progress 
topical issues;

• Undertaking research concerning superannuation and retirement income policy issues;

• Supporting and encouraging participation within the superannuation industry of women and men from 
community groups and backgrounds; 

• Fostering knowledge, debate and the development of ideas about superannuation in the Australian 
community;

• Participating in debate and putting forward the views of those involved in the representative 
superannuation industry, about the development of superannuation and the retirement income policies 
within Australia; 

• Promoting community awareness of the values of the representative superannuation industry and the 
benefits of having Representative Trustees overseeing a viable and equitable retirement system in 
Australia;

• Creating awareness about Indigenous superannuation issues amongst funds and the wider 
superannuation industry; and

Undertaking activities that are ancillary to the activities listed in the preceding paragraphs, being activities 
that the Company considers will advance its ability to pursue its purposes, and activities that are incidental to 
the activities listed in the preceding paragraphs.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR  
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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2. Basis of accounting and statement of compliance

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) 
and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profit Commission Act 2012. 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2021.

3. Functional currency

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.

4. Use of estimates and judgements

In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised prospectively.

5. Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.

6. Significant accounting policies

(A) REVENUE

The Company has applied AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 1058 Income 
of Not-for-Profit Entities from 1 January 2019. Revenue is measured on the consideration specified in a 
contract with a customer. The Company recognises revenue when it transfers control of a good or service 
to a customer.
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6. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(B) REVENUE (CONTINUED)

The following table provides information about the nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance 
obligations in contracts with customers, including significant payment terms and the related revenue 
recognition policies.

Stream of Revenue Nature and timing of 
satisfaction of performance 
obligations, including 
significant payment terms

Revenue recognition under 
AASB 15 and AASB 1058 
(applicable from 1  
January 2019)

Revenue recognition under 
AASB 118 (applicable before  
1 January 2019)

Membership revenue Services provided to 
members, including but 
not limited to undertaking 
research concerning 
superannuation and 
retirement income policy 
issues and advocating on 
behalf of member funds. 

Membership fees are paid 
annually at the beginning of 
the membership year.

Membership fee income is 
recognised on an accrual 
basis and recognised in  
profit or loss over the 
membership period.

Membership fee income is 
recognised on an accrual basis 
and recognised in profit or loss 
over the membership period.

Events including registration 
and sponsorship

The Company organises 
seminars and conferences for 
those involved or interested 
in the superannuation 
industry.

Income includes registration 
fees, sponsorship income and 
income relating to exhibition 
at events.

Conference registration 
income is recognised 
when the conference takes 
place. Monies received in 
advance are recognised in 
the statement of financial 
position as income received 
in advance.

Sponsorship income and 
exhibition related income is 
recognised when the event 
takes place. Monies received 
in advance are recognised 
in the statement of financial 
position as income received 
in advance.

Conference registration 
income is recognised when 
the conference takes place. 
Monies received in advance 
are recognised in the 
statement of financial position 
as income received in advance.

Sponsorship income and 
exhibition related income is 
recognised when the event 
takes place. Monies received 
in advance are recognised 
in the statement of financial 
position as income received in 
advance.

Professional development Professional development 
income relating to 
education, training and 
compliance services to those 
who are involved in the 
superannuation industry.

Compliance, education and 
training income is recognised 
as revenue when the right 
to receive the revenue has 
been established, which 
is considered to be on the 
provision of the service.

Compliance, education and 
training income is recognised 
as revenue when the right 
to receive the revenue has 
been established, which 
is considered to be on the 
provision of the service.

Other revenue Other revenue, including 
but not limited to provision 
of services to third parties 
not related to professional 
development or events, and 
fees for usage of office space.

Other revenue is recognised 
when the right to receive 
the revenue has been 
established. All revenue is 
stated net of the amount of 
goods and services tax (GST).

Other revenue is recognised 
when the right to receive the 
revenue has been established. 
All revenue is stated net of the 
amount of goods and services 
tax (GST).
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6. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(A) REVENUE (CONTINUED)

AASB 1058 applies to transactions where the consideration to acquire an asset is significantly less than 
fair value principally to enable a not-for-profit entity to further its objectives, and the receipt of volunteer 
services. The Company does not have any transactions where assets are acquired for less than fair value 
or receive volunteer services and as such revenue is recognised as performance obligations are met. 

 

(B) INCOME RECEIVED IN ADVANCE

Income received in advance comprises proceeds received for services which have not been performed 
and for which there is a return obligation, and is recorded in the statement of financial position, consistent 
with the revenue recognition policy (refer to Note 6 (a)).

(C) INCOME TAX

The Company is exempt from income tax pursuant to Section 50-5 of the Income tax Act (1997).

(D) GOODS AND SERVICES TAX

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except 
where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. 

In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of 
the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) is included as a current asset or 
liability in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash 
flows arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are 
classified as operating cash flows.

(E) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(i) Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. 

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. 

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by 
comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment 
and are recognised net within other income or other expenses in profit or loss. 
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(ii) Depreciation 

Items or property, plant and equipment are depreciated from the date that they are installed and 
are ready for use.

Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or  
other amount substituted for cost, less its residual value. 

Depreciation is recognised on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of 
an item of property, plant and equipment, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of 
consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. 

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Office equipment 5 years

Fixture and fittings 10 years

Property that relates to a leased asset is depreciated over the term of the lease agreement.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and 
adjusted if appropriate.

(iii) Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits 
embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in profit or loss 
as incurred. 

(F) INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(i) Software

Software assets that are acquired by the Company and have finite useful lives are measured at cost 
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets

(ii)  Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits 
embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on 
internally generated  
goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

(iii)  Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual 
values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognised in 
profit or loss. 

The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

Software and website development 5 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted if appropriate.

31 December 2020

The directors present their report together with the financial statements of Australian Institute of Superannuation 
Trustees (“the Company”) for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the auditor’s report thereon.

1. Directors

 The directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the financial year are:

Name Fund Fund Position AIST Position Date Appointed
Term 
Concluded

Catherine Bolger SAS Trustees Trustee Director Trustee Representative 
Director, President

11/04/2018

Trustee Representative 
Director

17/03/2016

Louise du Pre-Alba Australian Super Strategic Policy 
Advocate

Staff Representative 
Director, Deputy President

14/04/2017

Staff Representative 
Director

18/03/2015

Brendan Daly Rest Group Executive 
– Product & 
Operations

Staff Representative 
Director

17/06/2020

Naomi Edwards Tasplan Chair Board Appointed Director

Trustee Representative 
Director

16/12/2015

13/03/2019 17/06/2020

Karalyn Keys Cbus Trustee Director Trustee Representative 
Director

4/03/2020

Geoffrey Lake Vision Super Chair Trustee Representative 
Director

18/03/2015

Julie Lander CareSuper Chief of Staff & 
Group Executive - 
Victoria

Board Appointed Director 1/01/2018

Debra Mika Aware Super Chief Executive 
Officer

Staff Representative 
Director

2/03/2020

Craig Peate Local Government 
Super

Deputy Chair Trustee Representative 
Director

17/03/2016

Mark Puli ESSSuper Chief Executive 
Officer

Staff Representative 
Director

17/03/2016 3/04/2020
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(G) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(i) Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed 
contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further 
amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an employee 
expense in the profit or loss in the periods during which services are rendered by employees. 

(ii) Other long-term employee benefits

The Company’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future 
benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That 
benefit is discounted to determine its present value. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting 
date on corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating the term of the Company’s 
obligations and that are denominated in the same currency in which the benefits are expected to be 
paid. The calculation is performed using the projected unit credit method. Actuarial gains or losses 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

(iii) Short term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are not discounted and expensed as the related service is provided. 
A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid if the Company has a present legal or 
constructive obligation to pay this amount as result of past service provided by the employee and 
the obligation can be estimated reliably.

(H) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(i) Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of a financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire, or when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred. 

A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

(ii) Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

Financial assets are classified according to their business model and the characteristics of their 
contractual cash flows. Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing 
component and are measured at the transaction price, all financial assets are initially measured at 
fair value adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable).

(iii) Subsequent measurement of financial assets

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets, other than those designated and 
effective as hedging instruments, are classified into the following four categories:

• Financial assets at amortised cost

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

• Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

• Equity instruments at FVTOCI

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are 
presented within finance costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of 
trade receivables which is presented separately.
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 a. Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets with contractual cash flows representing solely payments of principal and 
interest and held within a business model of ‘hold to collect’ contractual cash flows are 
accounted for at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The Company’s receivables 
fall into this category of financial instruments.

Receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents, term deposits and trade and other 
receivables.

 b. Financial assets measured at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value and changes therein, including any interest 
or dividend income, are recognised in the profit and loss.

The Company’s investments fall into this category of financial instruments.

(iv) Impairment of financial assets

Loss allowances are recognised on the Company’s assets measured at amortised cost. The 
application of the impairment model depends on whether there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk.

 a. Trade and other receivables and contract assets

Trade and other receivables and contract assets are impaired if objective evidence indicates 
that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event 
had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated 
reliably. 

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes default or delinquency by a 
debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Company on terms that the Company would not 
consider otherwise, indicators that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy.

As most of these instruments have a high credit rating, the likelihood of default is deemed to 
be small. However, at each reporting date the Company assesses whether there has been a 
significant increase in the credit risk of the instrument. In assessing these risks, the Company 
relies on readily available information such as the credit ratings issued by the major credit rating 
agencies for the respective asset. The Company only holds simple financial instruments for 
which specific credit ratings are usually available. In the unlikely event that there is no or only 
little information on factors influencing the ratings of the asset available, the Company would 
aggregate similar instruments into a portfolio to assess on this basis whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk. In addition, the Company considers other indicators such as 
adverse changes in business, economic or financial conditions that could affect the borrower’s 
ability to meet its debt obligation or unexpected changes in the borrowers operating results. 
Should any of these indicators imply a significant increase in the instrument’s credit risk, the 
Company recognises for this instrument or class of instruments the lifetime expected credit 
losses. 

(v) Classification and measurement of financial liabilities 

The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables. Financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless the Company 
designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss.

Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method 
except for derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, which are carried subsequently at 
fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss (other than derivative financial instruments 
that are designated and effective as hedging instruments). 
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(I) LEASES 

(i) Lease payments

For any new contracts entered into on or after 1 January 2019, the Company considers whether a 
contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys 
the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration’.

To apply this definition the Company assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations 
which are whether:

(i)  the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or 
implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Company; 

(ii) the Company has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the 
identified asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of 
the contract; and

(iii) the Company has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use.

The Company assess whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is used 
throughout the period of use.

(ii) Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on 
the balance sheet. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which is made up of the initial 
measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the Company, an estimate of 
any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made 
in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives received). 

The Company depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end 
of the lease term. The Company also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment when such 
indicators exist.

At the commencement date, the Company measures the lease liability at the present value of the 
lease payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that 
rate is readily available or the Company’s incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments 
(including in-substance fixed payments), variable payments based on an index or rate that is in 
effect at the lease commencement date, amounts expected to be payable under a residual value 
guarantee and payments arising from options reasonably certain to be exercised.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured 
to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments.

When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use 
asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Company has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the 
practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in 
relation to these are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. 

On the statement of financial position, right-of-use assets have been included in property, plant and 
equipment and lease liabilities have been presented as standalone financial statement items as 
lease liabilities.
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(iii) Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessor

The Company sub-leases accommodation to Australian Council of Superannuation Investors and 
Mother’s Day Classic under sub-lease agreements. The sub-leases are based upon lease recovery 
for space used and there is no profit component within the sub-lease amount charged.

When the Company is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the 
sub-lease separately. It assesses the classification of the sub-lease with reference to the right-of-
use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset. 

The Company recognises a lease receivable to represent the present value of future payments in the 
sub-lease agreements, using the effective interest method. The Company records lease payments 
received under sub-leases as recovery of lease receivable and implied interest income. 

(iv) Application of Rent Concessions

Due to Covid-19 restrictions, the Company applied for and obtained rent concessions from its 
landlord during the 2020 financial year. The Company has applied the practical expedient to all rent 
concessions that meet the conditions.

Under the Federal Government’s Mandatory Code of Conduct (Code) that was was adopted on 
7 April 2020, tenants with revenue of less than $50 million per annum and who were eligible for the 
Commonwealth JobKeeper Program (JobKeeper) were eligible to seek rent relief from landlords. The 
Company sought and was granted relief under this Code.

Rent relief was provided for those months during the period where the Company’s turnover fell by 
30% or more from the corresponding month in 2019. The rent relief provided will be allocated equally 
between a rent-free incentive and a rent deferral, where:

• the rent-free incentive relates to rent which is waived by the owner and is not be required to be  
repaid by the Company; and

• the rent deferral relates to rent which is not required to be paid during the period which covid-19 
restricts utilsation of AIST’s accommodation, but which becomes repayable after this Period, to 
be paid over the reminder of the lease term.

(iv) Application of Rent Concessions (continued)

The total rent relief received by the Company during the financial year was:

• $73,300 in rent free incentive; and

• $73,300 in rent deferral.

The relevant proportion of rent-free incentive and rent deferral was subsequently passed onto the 
Company’s sub-lessees.
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(J) IMPAIRMENT - NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated. 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

(K) FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, interest income on sub-lease 
arrangements and changes in fair value of managed fund investments. Interest income is recognised as 
it accrues, using the effective interest method. 

Finance costs comprise interest expense on leased assets, bank guarantee charges and bank fees.

(L) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to Australian Dollars at exchange rates at the dates of 
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date 
are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date.

7. Revenue

In AUD 2020 2019

Membership 1,676,216 1,497,694

Events including registration and sponsorship 2,918,749 4,832,923

Professional development 1,080,829 1,482,286

Other revenue 1,384,383 312,527

Total 7,060,177 8,125,430
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8. Expenses

In AUD 2020 2019

Accounting and audit fees  46,600  74,192 

Strategy and Board expenses  11,919  17,265 

Event related expenditure  748,606  2,208,591 

Consultancy fees and research  67,521  206,663 

Depreciation and amortisation  520,770  476,249 

Information and technology  315,949  257,464 

Insurance  37,239  43,590 

Legal and other professional fees  12,065  20,368 

Marketing and website expenses  50,786  52,570 

Postage and couriers  4,715  10,621 

Professional development expenses  76,809  328,565 

Rent  41,598  - 

Rental outgoings  1,184  87,362 

Salaries  4,723,888  4,169,502 

Staff training  8,135  53,515 

Stationery and printing  6,988  35,820 

Subscriptions  29,908  33,071 

Telephone and data  44,747  47,069 

Travel  18,598  123,251 

Bad debts  -  10,644 

Other expenditure  349,579  334,446 

Total 7,117,604  8,590,818 
 

9. Cash and cash equivalents

In AUD 2020 2019

Bank balances 421,239 652,541

Cash on hand 589 181

Total cash and cash equivalents 421,828 652,722
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10. Property, plant and equipment

In AUD
Office  

Building
Office  

Equipment
Fixtures and 

Fittings Total

GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT

Balance at 1 January 2020 2,223,088 230,262 122,493 2,575,843

Acquisitions - 4,846 - 4,846

Disposals - - - -

Balance at 31 December 2020 2,223,088 235,108 122,493 2,580,689

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Balance at 1 January 2020 (261,540) (83,294) (49,281) (394,115)

Disposals - - - -

Depreciation charge for the year (261,540) (69,461) (26,378) (357,379)

Balance at 31 December 2020 (523,080) (152,755) (75,659) (751,494)

Carrying Amount 31 December 2020 1,700,008 82,353 46,834 1,829,195

In AUD
Office  

Building
Office  

Equipment
Fixtures and 

Fittings Total

GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT

Balance at 1 January 2019 - 29,580 122,493 152,073

Acquisitions 2,223,088 37,143 - 2,260,231

Disposals - 165,960 - 165,960

Balance at 31 December 2019 - (2,421) - (2,421)

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Balance at 1 January 2019 - (17,367) (21,157) (38,524)

Disposals - - - -

Depreciation charge for the year (261,540) (65,927) (28,124) (355,591)

Balance at 31 December 2019 (261,540) (83,294) (49,281) (394,115)

CARRYING AMOUNT 31 DECEMBER 2019 1,961,548 146,968 73,212 2,181,728
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 Property, plant and equipment comprises owned and lease assets.

Property, plant and equipment owned 117,511

Property, plant and equipment leased 1,711,683

Total right-of-use assets recognised at 31 December 2019 1,829,194

Included in the net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment are right-of-use assets as follows:

Right-of-use assets recognised in of property, plant and equipment 

In AUD Office Building Photocopiers Total

Balance at 1 January 2020 1,961,548 24,409 1,985,957

Depreciation charge for the year (261,540) (12,734) (274,274)

Balance at 31 December 2020 1,700,008 11,675 1,711,683

11. Intangible Assets

In AUD Software Total

GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT

Balance at 1 January 2020 706,220 706,220 

Acquisitions 112,084 112,084 

Balance at 31 December 2020 818,304 818,304 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Balance at 1 January 2020 (176,921) (176,921)

Amortisation charge for the year (163,391) (163,391)

Balance at 31 December 2020 (340,312) (340,312)

Carrying Amount 31 December 2020 477,992 477,992 

GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT

Balance at 1 January 2019  368,739  368,739 

Acquisitions  337,481  337,481 

Disposals - -

Balance at 31 December 2019  706,220  706,220 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Balance at 1 January 2019 (56,263) (56,263)

Disposals - -

Amortisation charge for the year (120,658) (120,658)

Balance at 31 December 2019 (176,921) (176,921)

CARRYING AMOUNT 31 DECEMBER 2019 529,299 529,299
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12. Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities

In AUD 2020 2019

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(Loss)/Surplus for the period 
Adjustments for: (113,531) (439,791)

Increase in value of investments (25,258) (77,229)

Interest received on lease receivable (70,210) (76,833)

Interest paid on lease liabilities 170,268 186,850

Depreciation and amortisation 520,770 476,249

Operating profit before changes in working capital and provisions 482,039 69,247

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables and prepayments (759,433) 394,799

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other payables excluding non-cash other 
payables (6,610) 9,085

Decrease in provisions and employee benefits (117,462) (40,588)

Decrease in income received in advance (1,897,372) 579,138

Net cash from operating activities (2,298,838) 1,011,680

13. Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management policies

The Company has exposure to the following risks from their use of financial instruments:

 ▪ credit risk

 ▪ liquidity risk

 ▪ market risk

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and their management of capital. 

(i) Risk management framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the overall risk 
management framework of the Company. Further, the Board has established the Finance, Risk and 
Audit Committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring the approach to finance and 
risk management. The Committee reports regularly to the Board of Directors on its activities. 

Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Company, 
to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk 
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions 
and the Company’s activities. The Company, through its training and management standards 
and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all 
employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Board oversees how management monitors compliance with the Company’s risk management 
policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to 
the risks faced by the Company. 
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(ii) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Company’s 
receivables, investments in term deposits and investments in managed funds.

The Company has established entry procedures for each new fee payer arising from new enrolments 
and this includes communication of rules in respect of fee payment and other terms and conditions 
of enrolment. These procedures are overseen by the Board. Fee payers that fail to meet entry 
conditions, fee payment requests or ongoing terms and conditions of enrolment are precluded from 
participating in Company activities.

The Company does not require collateral in respect of trade receivables, however a member may be 
excluded in the event of non-payment of fees for Company events.

(iii) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they 
fall due. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will 
always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed 
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation.

Typically the Company ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational 
expenses and facilities development as indicated for forward cash flow planning calculations, 
including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme 
circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters. 

To analyse liquidity, management performs cash flow analysis on a bi-monthly basis for the ensuing 
quarter.

(iv) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates 
and equity  
prices will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The 
objective of  
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimising the return.

(v) Capital management

The Board of Directors’ policy is to maintain a strong capital base to provide for sustainable 
operations of the Company. The Board of Directors monitor cash and cash equivalents, budgets, 
forecasts of expenditure and revenue to ensure the Company’s capital base is adequate.
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(vi) Credit risk

Exposure to credit risk

CARRYING AMOUNT

In AUD Note 2020 2019

Trade and other receivables 15 474,720 110,593

Cash and cash equivalents 9 421,828 652,722

Term deposits 1,538,566 4,265,500

Managed funds 1,977,487 1,752,229

Prepayments 939,006 543,700

5,351,607 7,324,744

The Company’s exposure to credit risk for trade receivables arises primarily with fee payers located 
across Australia; however, there is no significant concentration of receivables by any individual fee 
payer.

Term deposits include $715,500 (2019: $715,500) which reflect deposits required to be held under the 
bank guarantee for the office premises lease, education course guarantees and credit card facility. 

Credit risk relating to cash and cash equivalents and term deposits is minimal given the institutions 
the Company holds these funds with.

The Company is also exposed to credit risk relating to financial assets that are measured at fair 
value through profit or loss. Credit risk relating to financial assets is are considered to have low credit 
risk. The maximum exposure as at 31 December 2020 is the carrying amount of these instruments.

Impairment losses
The ageing of the Company’s trade receivables at the reporting date was:

GROSS
In AUD 2020 2019

Not past due 175,565 18,295

Past due 31-90 days 140 14,209

Past due 91 days to one year 17,851 37,869

193,556 70,373

Impairment losses on financial assets recognised in profit and loss were as follows:

GROSS
In AUD 2020 2019

Impairment loss on trade receivables -  10,644 
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(vii) Liquidity risk

The carrying amount of the Company’s financial liabilities is represented by trade and other 
payables (Note 17), lease liabilities (Note 18) and income received in advance (Note 20). The carrying 
amounts approximate contractual cash flows and are anticipated to be settled within 12 months 
of 31 December 2020. The Company has adequate financial assets to meet these liabilities and 
assesses liquidity risks as minimal.

(viii) Interest rate risk

Financial assets – variable
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents and term deposits are invested in deposits on terms 
between 30 and 365 days. These investments are managed to take advantage of the best interest 
rates available at maturity while taking into account the Company’s investment policy and funding 
needs.

Financial liabilities – variable
The Company has no variable rate borrowings.

Profile
At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Company’s interest-bearing  
financial instruments was:

CARRYING AMOUNT
In AUD 2020 2019

VARIABLE RATE INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets 3,937,881 6,670,449

Financial liabilities (3,228,314) (3,634,986)

709,567 3,035,463

Fair value sensitivity analysis  
The Company does not account for any fixed rate financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 
Therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss.

A change of 200 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) 
profit or loss by the amounts shown below. The underlying assumptions and methodology is based 
on management analysis of historical data. The analysis also assumes that all other variables remain 
constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2019.

PROFIT OR LOSS
In AUD 200bp increase 200bp decrease

31 December 2020

Variable rate instruments 78,758 (78,758)

Cash flow sensitivity (net) 78,758 (78,758)

31 December 2019

Variable rate instruments 133,409 (133,409)

Cash flow sensitivity (net) 133,409 (133,409)
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(ix) Guarantees

 At 31 December 2020, the Company has been issued a bank guarantee from its financiers in respect 
of its lease and credit facilities.

(x) Fair values

 The fair value of the Company’s assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2020 approximate their 
carrying amounts shown in the statement of financial position.

14. Finance income and expenses 

In AUD 2020 2019

Recognised in profit or loss

Interest income on bank deposits 41,535 103,911

Interest income on lease receivable 70,210 76,833

Fair value movement of managed fund investments 25,258  77,229 

Finance income 137,003 257,973

Interest expense on lease liabilities (170,268) (186,850)

Other finance expenses (22,839) (45,526)

Finance costs (193,107) (232,376)

Net finance income recognised in profit or loss (56,104) 25,597

15. Trade and other receivables

In AUD 2020 2019

CURRENT

Debtors 193,556 70,372

Interest receivable 3,192 22,294

Other debtors 277,972 17,927

474,720 110,593

The Company’s exposure to credit risk and impairment losses related to trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 13.
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16. Trade and other receivables

In AUD 2020 2019

CURRENT

Lease receivable 106,051 143,017

106,051 143,017

NON-CURRENT

Lease receivable 1,226,128 1,353,833

1,226,128 1,353,833

In AUD 2020 2019

Maturity Analysis – contractual undiscounted cash flows

 Less than one year 236,420  213,228 

 One to five years 1,002,682  935,926 

 More than five years 423,100  657,667 

Total undiscounted lease receivable at 31 December 2020 1,662,202  1,806,821 

Lease receivables included in the statement of  
financial position, discounted

 Current 106,051 143,017

 Non-Current 1,226,128 1,353,833

Total lease receivables 1,332,179 1,496,850

17. Trade and other receivables

In AUD 2020 2019

CURRENT

Trade creditors 11,665 11,711

GST payable 51,820 189,840

Accrued expenses 223,397 99,084

PAYG payable 98,372 91,229

385,254 391,864
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18. Lease liabilities

In AUD 2020 2019

CURRENT

Lease liabilities 345,168 357,669

345,168 357,669

NON-CURRENT

Lease liabilities 2,883,146 3,277,317

2,883,146 3,277,317

In AUD 2020 2019

Maturity Analysis – contractual undiscounted cash flows

 Less than one year 570,180  514,245 

 One to five years 2,418,190  2,257,192 

 More than five years 967,936  1,586,110 

Total undiscounted lease receivable at 31 December 2019 3,956,306  4,357,547 

Lease liabilities included in the statement of  
financial position, discounted 3,634,986

-

 Current 345,168 357,669

 Non-Current 2,883,146 3,277,317

Total lease liabilities 3,228,314 3,634,986
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19. Leases

Amounts recognised in profit and loss
In AUD 2020 2019

Interest expense on lease liabilities (170,268) (186,850)

Depreciation charge for the year for right-of-use assets (274,274) (274,274)

Interest income on sub-leasing right-of-use assets 70,210 76,833

Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows
In AUD 2020 2019

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest income on sub-leasing right-of-use assets 70,210 76,833

Receipt of lease receivables 78,239 128,687

Cash flows from financing activities

Interest paid on lease liabilities (170,268) (186,850)

Payment of lease liabilities (320,241) (322,501)

20. Income received in advance

In AUD 2020 2019

Event revenue received in advance 842,920 1,914,716

Membership revenue received in advance 511,850 1,337,427

1,354,770 3,252,143

21. Employee benefits

In AUD 2020 2019

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Liability for annual leave and long service leave 334,330 464,594

334,330 464,594

 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Liability for long service leave 51,827 39,025

51,827 39,025
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22. Funds, capital and reserves

Contributed equity

The entity is a company limited by guarantee. The maximum liability per member is $10. At 31 December 2020 
there were 8,048 members (2019: 7,427 members), made up of Trustee Directors, Fund Staff, Associate and 
individual members.

23. Auditors’ remuneration

In AUD 2020 2019

Audit Services

Auditors of the Company

KPMG Australia - audit of financial report 42,880 60,599

Total Remuneration for KPMG 42,880 60,599

24. Capital and operational reserve

This reserve is to fund future exceptional capital and operational expenditure including one-off projects that 
advance the Company’s principal activities, development of new programs and the required staff training to 
deliver it. 

25. Contingencies

There are no known contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2020. 

26. Related parties

(i) Transactions with key management personnel

During the period, the Company provided membership, conference and other educational services 
to the Trustee Directors or Management Personnel of the relevant Superannuation Funds of 
Directors. These services were provided on normal commercial terms and conditions.

The directors of the Company do not receive any remuneration for the performance of their duties as 
Directors. 
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(ii) Key management personnel

The names of the directors and personnel that are key management personnel during the period are 
as follows:

Name Position

Catherine Bolger President -Trustee Representative 

Louise du Pre-Alba Deputy President - Staff Representative 

Brendan Daly Director - Staff Representative

Naomi Edwards Director - Trustee Representative

Geoffrey Lake Director - Trustee Representative 

Julie Lander Director - Board Appointed

Karalyn Keys Director - Trustee Representative

Debra Mika Director - Staff Representative

Craig Peate Director - Trustee Representative 

Mark Puli Director - Staff Representative 

Eva Scheerlinck Chief Executive Officer 

Matthew Jackson General Manager - Corporate Services and Company Secretary

Maryann Mannix-White Chief Membership Officer (resigned 7 October 2021)

Melissa Birks General Manager - Advocacy 

Tania Turnbull General Manager - Memberships and Partnerships

George Nelson General Manager – Professional Development
 

(iii) Key management personnel

In AUD 2020 2019

Short-term employee benefits  757,793 835,949

Post-employment benefits  90,020 87,502

Other long term benefits  101,737 96,963

 949,550 1,020,414

27. Related parties

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction 
or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect significantly the operations of the Company, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in subsequent financial years.
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

Australian Institute of Superannuation Trustees 
ABN 19 123 284 275 
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Directors’ Declaration

In the opinion of the Directors of Australian Institute of Superannuation Trustees (the Company): 

(a) the Company is not publicly accountable;

(b) the, financial statements and notes that are set out on pages 43 to 69 are in accordance 
with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 
2020 and of its performance, for the financial year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Australian Charities and 
Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2012; and,

(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as 
and when they become due and payable.

Dated at Melbourne this 30th of March 2021. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors: 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

To the members of Australian Institute of Superannuation Trustees 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the Financial Report, of 
the Australian Institute of Superannuation 
Trustees (the Company). 

In our opinion, the accompanying Financial 
Report of the Company is in accordance 
with Division 60 of the Australian Charities 
and Not-for-profits Commission (ACNC) 
Act 2012, including:   

i. giving a true and fair view of the 
financial position as at 31 
December 2020 and of its 
financial performance and its 
cash flows for the year ended on 
that date; and 

ii. complying with Australian 
Accounting Standards and 
Division 60 of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Regulation 2013. 

The Financial Report comprises: 

i. Statement of financial position as at 31 
December 2020 

ii. Statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, Statement of changes 
in equity, and Statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended 

iii. Notes including a summary of significant 
accounting policies 

iv. Director’s declaration 

Basis for opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the Financial Report section of our report.  

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 
ACNC Act 2012 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards 
Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the 
Code) that are relevant to our audit of the Financial Report in Australia. We have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  
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Other information 

Other Information is financial and non-financial information in Australian Institute of Superannuation 
Trustees’ annual reporting which is provided in addition to the Financial Report and the Auditor’s Report. 
The Directors are responsible for the Other Information.  

The Other Information we obtained prior to the date of this Auditor’s Report was the Directors’ Report. 

Our opinion on the Financial Report does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the Financial Report, our responsibility is to read the Other Information. 
In doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the Financial 
Report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information, 
and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained prior to the date 
of this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The Directors are responsible for: 

i. Preparing the Financial Report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards and the ACNC.

ii. Implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of a Financial Report that
gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

iii. Assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and whether the use of the
going concern basis of accounting is appropriate . This includes disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either
intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do
so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report 

Our objective is:  

i. to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Report as a whole is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and

ii. to issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of this Financial Report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 

i. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Financial Report, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
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evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

ii. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors. 

iii. Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the registered Company ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our Auditor’s Report to the related disclosures in the Financial Report or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our Auditor’s Report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the registered Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  

iv. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Financial Report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the Financial Report represents the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the Directors of the registered Company regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

  

  
 

                                      
KPMG  Sarah Cain 

 Partner 

 Melbourne 
 
30 March 2021 
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